Diverse Stomatal Signaling and the Signal Integration Mechanism

Yoshiyuki Murata,¹ Izumi C. Mori,² and Shintaro Munemasa¹

¹Graduate School of Environmental and Life Science, Okayama University, Okayama 700-8530, Japan; email: muta@cc.okayama-u.ac.jp, smunemasa@cc.okayama-u.ac.jp

²Institute of Plant Science and Resources, Okayama University, Okayama 710-0046, Japan; email: imori@rib.okayama-u.ac.jp

Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 2015. 66:369-92

First published online as a Review in Advance on February 4, 2015

The Annual Review of Plant Biology is online at plant.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-arplant-043014-114707

Copyright © 2015 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

Keywords

abiotic stress, biotic stress, calcium, guard cell, reactive oxygen species

Abstract

Guard cells perceive a variety of chemicals produced metabolically in response to abiotic and biotic stresses, integrate the signals into reactive oxygen species and calcium signatures, and convert these signatures into stomatal movements by regulating turgor pressure. Guard cell behaviors in response to such complex signals are critical for plant growth and sustenance in stressful, ever-changing environments. The key open question is how guard cells achieve the signal integration to optimize stomatal aperture. Abscisic acid is responsible for stomatal closure in plants in response to drought, and its signal transduction has been well studied. Other plant hormones and low-molecular-weight compounds function as inducers of stomatal closure and mediators of signaling in guard cells. In this review, we summarize recent advances in research on the diverse stomatal signaling pathways, with specific emphasis on signal integration and signal interaction in guard cell movement.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	0
1. PLANT HORMONES THAT REGULATE STOMATAL MOVEMENTS 37	1
1.1. Jasmonates	1
1.2. Salicylic Acid	2
1.3. Ethylene	3
1.4. Other Plant Hormones 374	4
2. ELICITORS	4
2.1. Flg22, Elf18, Elf26, Bacterial Lipopolysaccharide, and Chitin 374	4
2.2. Chitosan and Yeast Elicitor	6
3. REACTIVE METABOLITES 370	6
3.1. Carbonyl Compounds 370	6
3.2. Isothiocyanates	7
3.3. Glutathione	7
4. SIGNAL INTEGRATION MECHANISM	8
4.1. Reactive Oxygen Species: Metabolism	8
4.2. Reactive Oxygen Species: Sensing 379	9
4.3. Calcium: Transport	0
4.4. Calcium: Sensing by CDPKs	0
4.5. Calcium: Sensing by CAS	2
5. CONCLUSION	3

INTRODUCTION

Stomatal pores, which are formed by pairs of guard cells, function as gateways for controlling gas exchange and transpirational water loss. Stomatal opening promotes plant growth by enhancing carbon dioxide uptake and transpirational water loss, which are essential for photosynthesis and the uptake of nutrients from soil to the plant body, respectively. However, stomatal opening also causes undesirable and excess water loss from plants under drought stress conditions and allows microorganisms to invade plants through stomatal pores. Therefore, plants have evolved sophisticated and refined mechanisms to regulate stomatal movements, especially stomatal closure (**Figure 1**).

The opening and closing of pores are regulated by changes in guard cell volume (148). Stomatal opening is mediated by influx of water and solutes such as K⁺ into guard cells, and stomatal closure is regulated by efflux of water and solutes from those cells (105). To optimize plant growth under multiple stress conditions in nature, guard cells have developed sophisticated signal integration mechanisms that enable appropriate control of stomatal apertures. The plant hormone abscisic acid (ABA) induces stomatal closure, a signal mechanism that has been well studied. The recent discovery of PYRABACTIN RESISTANCE/PYR1-LIKE/REGULATORY COMPONENT OF ABA RECEPTOR (PYR/PYL/RCAR) has accelerated our understanding of ABA signaling (102, 143), and several reviews on guard cell ABA signaling have been published in recent years (62, 87). Here, we focus on stress signal transduction of other plant hormones and small chemical compounds in guard cells and discuss the mechanisms of signal integration.

Pyrabactin:

a synthetic agonist of abscisic acid



Figure 1

Signal encoding and decoding in guard cell signal integration. Abbreviations: CAS, CALCIUM-SENSING RECEPTOR; CBL, CALCINEURIN B–LIKE PROTEIN; CDPK, calcium-dependent protein kinase; CIPK, CBL-INTERACTING PROTEIN KINASE; ROS, reactive oxygen species.

1. PLANT HORMONES THAT REGULATE STOMATAL MOVEMENTS

1.1. Jasmonates

Jasmonates (JAs) regulate stomatal aperture. Exogenous application of jasmonic acid and its methyl ester [methyl jasmonate (MeJA)] induces stomatal closure in various plant species (128). Genetic studies of *Arabidopsis thaliana* mutants have suggested that JAs share a common signaling pathway with ABA in guard cells. Similar to ABA, MeJA requires the NAD(P)H oxidases RESIRATORY BURST OXIDASE HOMOLOG D (AtRBOHD) and AtRBOHF to induce reactive oxygen species (ROS) production in guard cells and stomatal closure (165). Patch-clamp studies revealed that MeJA activates outward-rectifying K⁺ channels (K⁺_{out} channels) and inactivates inward-rectifying K⁺ channels (K⁺_{out} channels) and inactivates slow-type (S-type) anion channels in guard cells (127, 130), thereby depolarizing the plasma membranes of the guard cells, which in turn evokes K⁺ extrusion through the depolarization-activated K⁺_{out} channels (170).

Clade A protein phosphatase 2Cs (PP2Cs) such as ABA-INSENSITIVE 1 (ABI1) and ABI2 are negative regulators of ABA signaling and interact with PYR/PYL/RCAR ABA receptor proteins in the presence of ABA (102, 143). The stomata of two ABA-insensitive dominant-negative mutants of *ABI1* and *ABI2, abi1-1* and *abi2-1*, are insensitive to MeJA (130). Thus, JAs might affect regulation of the ABA receptor complexes in guard cells (128). However, in spite of the robust signal crosstalk between ABA and JAs in guard cells, no significant reduction of drought tolerance was detected in the *Arabidopsis coronatine-insensitive 1 (coi1)* mutant (S. Munemasa & Y. Murata, unpublished data). Although the *coi1* mutation blocked guard cell MeJA signaling, it did not influence ABA signaling (130). In addition, pretreatment of *Arabidopsis* plants with MeJA did not improve drought tolerance

NAD(P)H oxidase:

a transmembrane enzyme that generates superoxide anions in extracellular space by consuming the reduction energy of NADH or NADPH

Patch clamp: an

electrophysiological technique that is able to record very small ion currents, including the current of a single ion channel **Superoxide anion:** a one-electron-reduced oxygen molecule

NabG: a gene encoding salicylate hydroxylase, which converts salicylic acid to catechol (S. Munemasa & Y. Murata, unpublished data). These facts suggest that JA-induced stomatal closure does not play a crucial role in drought tolerance, at least in *Arabidopsis*, and that JAs do not simply activate guard cell ABA signaling, although they share several signaling elements. The results also imply that guard cells display a diversified response to environmental stimuli even though some signaling elements are common, which may be important for understanding the multiresponsivity of plants to environmental stimuli. By contrast, exogenous application of JAs and coronatine, a JA-mimicking phytotoxin, induces stomatal opening and inhibits ABA-induced stomatal closure instead of inducing stomatal closure (112, 113). Plant pathogens such as *Pseudomonas syringae* hijack the JA-mediated stomatal opening signal pathway for invasion through the opened pores. However, the physiological role and significance of endogenous JA-mediated stomatal opening are not clear.

Both the JA precursor 12-oxo-phytodienoic acid (12-OPDA) and MeJA induce stomatal closure (121, 155), but pretreatment with MeJA inhibits the 12-OPDA-induced stomatal closure (121). These results suggest that 12-OPDA triggers a signaling distinct from JA signaling in guard cells, which might be due to its electrophilic properties (6, 41).

1.2. Salicylic Acid

Salicylic acid (SA) is a phenolic compound that plays key roles in pathogen defense, thermogenesis, and flowering. An attack by any of a broad spectrum of pathogens induces an elevation of SA levels that triggers systemic acquired resistance (SAR), which reprograms the transcriptome and immune responses (173). Endogenous SA levels can be increased 10–100-fold in local leaves and up to 10-fold in systemic leaves in response to pathogens (115). Stomata are vulnerable pores in the epidermal tissues of plants that are unprotected against microbes; an increased level of endogenous SA induces stomatal closure, preventing the invasion of bacterial and fungal pathogens through the aperture.

Stomatal closure induced by SA is accompanied by the production of extracellular superoxide anions. Superoxide anion production around guard cells is inhibited by the peroxidase inhibitor salicylhydroxamic acid (SHAM) but not by the NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor diphenylene iodonium (DPI) (85, 125). This suggests that superoxide anion production is associated with cell wall–bound peroxidase activity. However, SHAM is not a specific inhibitor of cell wall–bound peroxidases. Therefore, the mechanism of SA-induced superoxide production will need to be further investigated by molecular genetic studies. In turn, SA induces intracellular ROS accumulation and inactivation of plasma membrane K⁺_{in} channels (85). A distinct difference between SA-induced ROS generation and ABA- and MeJA-induced ROS generation is that NAD(P)H oxidase is necessary for the latter but not for the former.

SA-induced stomatal closure is not associated with $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ elevation in guard cells but is blocked by a Ca^{2+} chelator, ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA), and by a Ca^{2+} antagonist, LaCl₃ (85). La³⁺ is known to compete with Ca^{2+} for Ca^{2+} -binding sites and to block Ca^{2+} permeable channels. These results suggest that extracellular Ca^{2+} binding rather than $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ elevation is crucial for SA-induced stomatal closure. Hence, the ROS- Ca^{2+} signaling system in the control of SA-induced stomatal closure appears to be different from that in the control of stomatal closure in response to ABA (93, 144) and MeJA (130, 165).

Contact between an *Arabidopsis* leaf and a pathogenic bacterium induces stomatal closure. This closure is impaired in SA-deficient transgenic *NahG* plants and in the SA biosynthetic mutant *enhanced disease susceptibility 16-2 (eds16-2)* (113), suggesting that SA is essential for stomatal defense against bacterial infection; that is, SA-mediated stomatal closure is an innate immune response elicited by contact with pathogenic bacteria. In addition, it has been proposed that the

combined action of SA and ABA signaling pathways mediates stomatal closure in response to bacterial pathogens (113, 122). *P. syringae* pv. *tomato* strain DC3000 induced stomatal closure, which was impaired in the ABA-deficient mutant *aba3* (113), but SA-induced stomatal closure was not impaired in another ABA-deficient mutant, *aba2* (71). The mechanism of signal crosstalk between ABA and SA during the innate immune response remains to be clarified.

Drought stress is known to increase SA accumulation levels in plants. The stomatal apertures of the Arabidopsis mutants sap and miz 1 (siz1), accelerated cell death 6 (acd6), and constitutive pathogen response 5 (cpr5), which accumulate higher levels of SA, are narrower than those of wild-type plants, and consequently the accumulation of endogenous SA improves drought tolerance (119, 141). Moreover, the narrow-stomata phenotype of the mutants is compromised by application of the peroxidase inhibitors SHAM and azide but not by application of the NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor DPI (119, 141). These results suggest that ROS generation mediated by SHAM-sensitive peroxidases is involved in SA-related drought responses. In contrast to these results, however, Catala et al. (21) reported that the *siz1* mutant has a drought-sensitive phenotype. In addition, the SA-accumulating cpr22 mutant showed reduced stomatal sensitivity to ABA and enhanced dehydration, and the NabG transgene suppressed the cpr22 phenotype (126). SIZ1 encodes a small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) E3 ligase (120) and sumoylates various proteins, including the MYB transcription factor PHOSPHATE STARVATION RESPONSE 1 (PHR1) (120), the basic leucine zipper (bZIP) transcription factor ABI5 (118), and the nitrate reductases NIA1 and NIA2 (142). Thus, SIZ1 regulation of SA signaling may not be direct, but rather mediated by an indirect complex mechanism.

1.3. Ethylene

The gaseous plant hormone ethylene functions in plants under certain biotic stress responses. Rapid drought stress elicits production of ethylene in wheat (132) but not in common bean, cotton, or miniature rose (123). Ethylene production is induced by moderate drought stress in maize with a compromised ability to produce ABA, although it is not induced by severe drought stress (174). Flooding induces stomatal closure, which is accompanied by ethylene production in nonaquatic plants (30, 72). These results suggest that ethylene regulation of stomatal movements under stress conditions is highly species dependent (1).

Ethylene has been shown to induce stomatal closure (36). In Arabidopsis, ethylene-induced stomatal closure is dependent on ROS production mediated by the NAD(P)H oxidase AtRBOHF (36). Ethylene-induced stomatal closure is impaired in the ethylene-insensitive mutants etr1-1 and ethylene-insensitive 2-1 (ein2-1). Interestingly, ethylene-induced ROS production in guard cells is impaired in *etr1-1* but not in *ein2-1*, suggesting that activation of AtRBOHF occurs upstream of EIN2 in guard cell ethylene signaling (36). By contrast, however, ethylene has been shown to counteract ABA-induced stomatal closure (167, 168). Watkins et al. (178) showed recently that ethylene increases the flavonol content in guard cells, suggesting that the accumulated flavonols act as antioxidants, reducing guard cell ROS levels and suppressing stomatal closure. Therefore, although how plants decide whether to open or close stomata in response to ethylene is unknown, it is clear that ROS homeostasis is a main target of ethylene signaling in guard cells. Desikan et al. (36) also suggested that an unknown cell-to-cell communication between guard cells and mesophyll cells is required by ethylene-induced stomatal closure but not by ethylene inhibition of ABA-induced stomatal closure. Chen et al. (22) showed that ethylene limits stomatal response to ABA in aging leaves. These results suggest that ethylene regulation of stomatal movements is highly dependent on surrounding environmental conditions.

1.4. Other Plant Hormones

Other plant hormones, such as brassinolide, auxin, gibberellin, strigolactone, and cytokinin, are not directly implicated in stomatal movements but may be indirectly involved. However, information about stomatal movements related to these plant hormones is limited, and we refer readers to other reviews on this subject (1, 29, 146).

2. ELICITORS

In this section, we summarize the regulation of stomatal apertures by small chemical compounds, including elicitors and secondary metabolites, and discuss the physiological significance of this regulation.

2.1. Flg22, Elf18, Elf26, Bacterial Lipopolysaccharide, and Chitin

It has been assumed that microscopic surface openings, such as stomata, serve as passive ports of bacterial entry during infection in plants. Like other plant cells, guard cells respond to microbes by detecting molecules derived from microbes, which are termed microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs). Each MAMP elicitor is sensed by a specific plasma membrane–localized receptor termed a pattern recognition receptor (PRR). Recent studies have clearly shown that guard cells in various plant species respond to MAMPs, resulting in stomatal closure to restrict the invasion of microbes (88, 90, 95, 113). The well-known MAMPs that induce stomatal closure include flg22 (a conserved 22-amino-acid peptide near the N terminus of bacterial flagellin) (113), elf18 (an 18-amino-acid peptide near the N terminus of bacterial elongation factor Tu) (185), elf26 (a 26-amino-acid peptide near the N terminus of bacterial elongation factor Tu) (34), bacterial lipopolysaccharide (113), chitin (a fungal cell wall component) (98), chitosan (a partially deacetylated chitin) (95), and yeast elicitor (an ethanol precipitate of yeast extract) (88).

The *Arabidopsis* PRRs responsible for recognition of flg22, elf18 and elf26, and chitin are FLAGELLIN-SENSITIVE 2 (FLS2) (25, 51), ELONGATION FACTOR TU RECEPTOR (EFR) (193), and CHITIN ELICITOR RECEPTOR KINASE 1 (CERK1) (65, 121), respectively, and these three PRRs are expressed in *Arabidopsis* guard cells (97, 149). In addition, these three PRRs cannot perceive lipopolysaccharide components, lipid A, or core polysaccharides (161). For details on the mechanism of MAMP perception by PRRs, we refer readers to other recent reviews (12, 104, 182, 192).

Flagellin is the constituent protein of the bacterial flagellum. The highly conserved N-terminal epitope of flagellin, flg22 (42), is perceived by guard cells, leading to stomatal closure. Stomatal closure in response to flg22 is abolished in the loss-of-function mutant *fls2* (113) (**Figure 2**), suggesting that the PRR of flg22, FLS2, plays a critical role in flg22-induced stomatal closure. Production of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) catalyzed by the NAD(P)H oxidase AtRBOHD is also essential for flg22-induced stomatal closure (34, 79, 96).

The NAD(P)H oxidase AtRBOHD associates with FLS2 and *BOTRYTIS*-INDUCED KINASE 1 (BIK1) and is phosphorylated by BIK1 at several amino acid residues in a Ca²⁺-independent manner (80, 96). The phosphorylation of AtRBOHD by BIK1 is required for flg22-induced H₂O₂ production and stomatal closure (43, 80, 96). In addition, Dubiella et al. (37) and Gao et al. (45) reported that calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) phosphorylate and activate AtRBOHD in response to flg22 treatment. Both CDPK-dependent and BIK1-dependent regulation of AtRBOHD are likely required for a full ROS burst during flg22 response, but the interdependent mechanism is unknown. Production of H₂O₂ induced by flg22 is attributed not only to plasma membrane NAD(P)H oxidases but also to type III peroxidases (31, 138), suggesting



Figure 2

A proposed simplified model for signal integration mechanisms in guard cells. Representative abiotic and biotic stimuli, flagellin, and ABA are shown. Plasma membrane NAD(P)H oxidases and apoplastic peroxidases are major ROS sources that activate the downstream signaling components. Activation of plasma membrane calcium current (I_{Ca}) channels causes [Ca^{2+}]_{cyt} elevation, which composes a part of the [Ca^{2+}]_{cyt} oscillation with a defined pattern (Ca^{2+} signature). The ER and vacuole are also considered to be major intracellular Ca^{2+} stores. Stromal Ca^{2+} elevation mediated by CAS is observed during stomatal closure induced by microbe-associated molecular patterns. The activities of NAD(P)H oxidases and CDPKs are regulated by the direct binding of Ca^{2+} . At the thylakoid membrane, CAS binds to Ca^{2+} , but the functional role of this binding is unknown. ABI2, GPX3, and ETR1 are involved in ROS sensing. The dashed arrows show possible signaling pathways. Abbreviations: ABA, abscisic acid; ABI2, ABA-INSENSITIVE 2; BIK1, *BOTRYTIS*-INDUCED KINASE 1; CAS, CALCIUM-SENSING RECEPTOR; CDPK, calcium-dependent protein kinase; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; FLS2, FLAGELLIN-SENSITIVE 2; GHR1, GUARD CELL HYDROGEN PEROXIDE–RESISTANT 1; GPX3, GLUTATHIONE PEROXIDASE 3; KAT1, POTASSIUM CHANNEL IN *ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA* 1; OST1, OPEN STOMATA 1; PYR/PYL/RCAR, PYRABACTIN RESISTANCE/PYR1-LIKE/REGULATORY COMPONENT OF ABA RECEPTOR; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SLAC1, SLOW ANION CHANNEL–ASSOCIATED 1.

that ROS production in the plasma membrane and in the cell wall function collaboratively in flg22-induced stomatal closure.

A positive regulator of ABA signaling, OPEN STOMATA 1 (OST1) protein kinase, is required for flg22-induced stomatal closure when flg22 concentrations are at or below 5 μ M (113, 122); based on the results of an in-gel kinase assay, however, flg22 does not increase OST1 activity at a concentration of 100 nM (122). These results suggest that flg22 does not induce ABA biosynthesis to facilitate stomatal closure and that a basal level of ABA serves to prime flg22-induced stomatal closure.

Like flg22, elf18 induces stomatal closure and H_2O_2 production in guard cells, both of which are impaired by the *AtrbohD* mutation (103), suggesting that AtRBOHD participates in elf18-induced stomatal closure. However, type III peroxidases may also mediate elf18-induced stomatal closure, because type III peroxidases contribute to H_2O_2 production in plants in response to flg22 (31, 138).

2.2. Chitosan and Yeast Elicitor

Chitosan is found in the walls of fungi. Exogenous application of chitosan also induces ROS accumulation in guard cells, leading to stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis, Commelina communis*, and *Pisum sativum* (88, 102, 163). Chitosan also stimulates S-type anion channel activity in guard cells, resulting in stomatal closure in *Hordeum vulgare* (90). The stomatal closure is completely abolished by the peroxidase inhibitor SHAM (86), suggesting that SHAM-sensitive peroxidases are involved in chitosan-induced stomatal closure. These peroxidases are likely type III peroxidases.

Yeast elicitor contains mainly mannan, a yeast cell wall component (158). Not only yeast elicitor but also live yeasts induce stomatal closure and ROS accumulation in guard cells (45, 88). ROS accumulation is not impaired in the *AtrbohD AtrbohF* mutant, but ROS production is slightly inhibited by DPI and completely inhibited by SHAM (45, 83). These results suggest that SHAM-sensitive peroxidases are essential for stomatal closure and H_2O_2 production induced by yeast elicitor (83).

Like ABA and MeJA, yeast elicitor activates hyperpolarization-activated calcium current (I_{Ca}) channels localized in the guard cell membrane to initiate $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ elevation (88, 183). A mutant study showed that a CDPK, CPK6, activates S-type channels and inhibits K_{in}^+ channels to mediate stomatal closure induced by yeast elicitor (183). This result suggests that CPK6 is an important Ca^{2+} sensor in stomatal closure induced by yeast elicitor, but little is known about the roles of CDPKs in MAMP-induced stomatal closure. Moreover, the *cpk6* loss-of-function mutation does not affect ABA- and MeJA-induced H₂O₂ accumulation in guard cells but does inhibit yeast elicitor–induced H₂O₂ accumulation in guard cells and in the apoplasts of leaf tissues (127, 183). These results suggest that CPK6 downregulates certain H₂O₂-scavenging systems in *Arabidopsis* in response to yeast elicitor.

3. REACTIVE METABOLITES

3.1. Carbonyl Compounds

A variety of stresses in plants induce disturbances of metabolism and peroxidation of lipids and proteins through ROS production, leading to the production of reactive carbonyl compounds such as methylglyoxal (CH₃COCHO) and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal through enzymatic and nonenzymatic reactions (11, 159). Hence, the reactive carbonyl compounds are likely to play important roles in stress responses (107, 154). Both methylglyoxal and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal induce stomatal closure, and methylglyoxal additionally induces ROS production mediated by SHAM-sensitive peroxidases and $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ elevation (58, 122). Moreover, carbonyl compounds such as methylgly-oxal and acrolein inhibit K_{in}^+ channels and light-induced stomatal opening (57, 70). The reactive carbonyl compounds are likely to be closely involved in stomatal movements.

3.2. Isothiocyanates

Isothiocyanates (ITCs) are produced by myrosinase-mediated conversion of metabolites called glucosinolates. They have a repellent effect on insects, pathogens, and herbivores, which is a chemical herbivory defense system found in members of the Brassicaceae. Allyl isothiocyanate (AITC), a hydrolysis product of sinigrin, induces stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis* (84). AITC-induced stomatal closure is accompanied by ROS production, which is mediated mainly by SHAM-insensitive peroxidases (59, 84). There is genetic evidence that AITC-induced stomatal closure and ROS production require endogenous MeJA but not endogenous ABA (84). Plants such as crucifers may produce ITCs to induce stomatal closure, leading to suppression of water loss and invasion of fungi through stomata.

The myrosinase-glucosinolate defense system evolved in members of the Brassicaceae. Myrosinase catalyzes the hydrolysis of a class of compounds called glucosinolates to produce toxic chemicals such as ITCs, thiocyanates, and nitriles. Myrosinases are reported to be involved in stomatal movements of *Arabidopsis*. THIOGLUCOSIDE GLUCOHYDROLASE 1 (TGG1) is involved in light-induced stomatal opening (189), and both TGG1 and TGG2 are involved in ABA-induced stomatal closure (69). Some myrosinase hydrolysis products of glucosinolates inhibit K_{in}^{in} channels (189), which is favorable to inhibition of stomatal opening.

How myrosinases function in ABA-induced stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis* is unknown. This function is not common to all land plants because the myrosinase-glucosinolate defense system is not present in all plants, but ITCs may induce stomatal closure using certain common signal pathways because of their electrophilicity.

AITC induces stomatal closure, which is inhibited by treatment with glutathione (GSH; γ -glutamylcysteinylglycine) monoethylester (84), suggesting that GSH is closely involved in AITC-induced stomatal closure. GSH deficiency enhances ABA- and MeJA-induced stomatal closure (4, 73), and AITC-induced stomatal closure is disrupted in the MeJA-deficient mutant *allene oxide synthase (aos)* (84). These results suggest that endogenous MeJA plays a role in AITC-induced stomatal closure.

Tubulin is reported to be a major in vivo binding target for ITCs in animal cells (116), but little is known about the binding target for ITCs in plant cells. However, microtubules are essential for guard cell function in *Vicia* and *Arabidopsis* (38, 39). In plant cells, microtubules may be one of the major binding targets for ITCs.

3.3. Glutathione

GSH is the most abundant nonprotein thiol compound in plants and is a key regulator of cellular redox homeostasis. It is involved in various physiological processes, including growth, development, and (in particular) defense responses to abiotic and biotic stresses (108, 134).

Monochlorobimane staining indicates that guard cells accumulate larger amounts of GSH than other epidermal cells (73). Both ABA and MeJA induce stomatal closure and coinstantaneously decrease the GSH contents of guard cells (4, 140). ABA- and MeJA-induced stomatal closure was enhanced in the *Arabidopsis* GSH-deficient mutants *chlorinal 1-1* (*ch1-1*) and *cadmium-sensitive* 2-1 (*cad2-1*) (3–5, 73, 140) and in *Arabidopsis* wild-type plants treated with the GSH-depletion chemicals 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene, *p*-nitrobenzyl chloride, iodomethane, and ethacrynic acid (5, 73). Application of GSH monoethylester, a membrane-permeable derivative of GSH, restores the stomatal phenotype of *ch1-1* and *cad2-1* mutants (3–5, 73, 140), whereas application of GSH does not affect stomatal movements (73). These results suggest that intracellular GSH functions as a negative regulator of ABA and MeJA signaling in guard cells. *Arabidopsis* GLUTATHIONE PEROXIDASE 3 (AtGPX3) is involved in scavenging H_2O_2 , and stomata of *atgpx3* plants are less sensitive to ABA than those of wild-type plants (117). In animal cells, GPXs scavenge oxyradicals using GSH as an electron donor (9). However, *Arabidopsis* GPXs (AtGPX1, -2, -3, -5, and -6) employ thioredoxin rather than GSH as an electron donor to scavenge H_2O_2 and organic hydroperoxides (66, 117). Therefore, GPXs cannot be involved in the negative regulation by GSH of ABA- and MeJA-induced stomatal closure. In addition, although GSH can nonenzymatically react with various oxidants, GSH and ascorbate react much more slowly with H_2O_2 than with hydroxyl radicals, singlet oxygen, and superoxide (147). Thus, GSH cannot be expected to scavenge H_2O_2 nonenzymatically in plants.

Genetic depletion of intracellular GSH does not affect ABA-induced ROS production in guard cells (73) but does significantly increase ROS production in whole leaves (129). The depletion of GSH by the *cad2* mutation may be involved in apoplastic and mesophyll cell ROS production rather than guard cell ROS production. Moreover, intracellular GSH does not affect cytosolic alkalization or $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ elevation elicited by ABA (140), but GSH depletion enhances H₂O₂-induced stomatal closure (such as ABA- and MeJA-induced stomatal closure), and activation of I_{Ca} channels by H₂O₂ is potentiated in the *cad2* mutant plant (129). The negative regulation by GSH of ABA-induced stomatal closure is likely attributable in part to an increased accumulation of extracellular ROS and modulation of I_{Ca} by GSH. The exact mechanism by which GSH modulates the responses of guard cells to ABA and MeJA is still unclear.

GSH-depletion reagents such as ethacrynic acid can function as an inhibitor of glutathione *S*transferase (GST) (106). The genetic and chemical depletion of GSH, a substrate of GST, results in a reduction of GST activities. Hence, the effect of GSH depletion on stomatal responses can be both a decrease in GSH contents and an indirect inhibition of GST. Therefore, the involvement of GST in ABA- and MeJA-induced stomatal closure should also be considered.

Other low-molecular-weight thiols, such as cysteine, cystine, γ -glutamylcysteine, cysteinylglycine, and phytochelatins, are also highly reactive compounds involved in maintaining cellular redox homeostasis and regulating cellular metabolism in plants under abiotic and biotic stresses (7, 54, 184). However, it remains to be clarified whether such thiols negatively regulate stomatal closure induced by ABA and MeJA or other stimuli.

4. SIGNAL INTEGRATION MECHANISM

In this section, we focus on a proposed integration of signal pathways in guard cells.

4.1. Reactive Oxygen Species: Metabolism

Abiotic and biotic stresses trigger ROS generation related to stomatal movements. ROS generation is catalyzed mainly by two types of enzymes: plasma membrane NAD(P)H oxidases and cell wall peroxidases (**Figure 2**). Other ROS-generating enzymes, such as apoplastic amine oxidases and oxalate oxidases, may also be involved in the ROS generation responsible for stomatal closure as well as oxidative bursts (8, 94). Here, we discuss plasma membrane NAD(P)H oxidases and cell wall peroxidases, as both of these enzymes are well studied and such knowledge allows us to build an integrated model of guard cell signaling.

Genetic and pharmacological studies using *Arabidopsis* have revealed that NAD(P)H oxidases, including AtRBOHD and AtRBOHF, mediate ROS generation in guard cells in response to ABA (93), MeJA (165), ethylene (36), flg22 (114), and elf18 (103). These NAD(P)H oxidases are regulated by direct binding of Ca²⁺ (139), phosphatidic acid (187), and Rac GTPases (181) and by phosphorylation by OST1/SUCROSE NON-FERMENTING 1–RELATED KINASE 2.6

(SnRK2.6) (162), CDPKs (19, 89), and BIK1 (80) in plants. Therefore, NAP(D)H oxidases likely integrate multiple upstream signal transductions that lead to stomatal closure.

Cytosolic alkalization is a major step in signal transduction for ABA, MeJA, and elicitors in guard cells (10, 48, 52, 67). It has been proposed that cytosolic alkalization occurs upstream of NAD(P)H oxidase–mediated ROS production in signal transduction (52, 165). However, the mechanism by which cytosolic alkalization triggers activation of NAD(P)H oxidases remains to be clarified. It has also been reported that cytosolic alkalization occurs downstream of ROS production (68, 186).

Stomatal closures induced by SA (125), chitosan (86), yeast elicitor (83), methylglyoxal (58), and ITC (85) are accompanied by SHAM-sensitive, peroxidase-mediated extracellular ROS generation. Although the molecular identities of such peroxidases are yet to be revealed, these findings suggest a critical role for peroxidases at a node integrating multiple signals in ROS generation and stomatal closure. Oxidative bursts mediated by apoplastic class III peroxidases are involved in MAMP-elicited defense responses (31, 138). It has been suggested that production of H_2O_2 by apoplastic peroxidases preferentially occurs at high pH in the presence of an excess of reductants (13, 138). However, how apoplastic pH and reductant amount are regulated during stomatal closure is unknown.

Catalase, an enzyme that catalyzes the decomposition of H_2O_2 , is predominantly located in the peroxisomes of plant cells (81, 180). The peroxisome is considered a major ROS source (28, 32, 135). Disruption of catalase genes and treatment with the catalase inhibitor 3-amino-1,2,4triazole enhanced ABA- and MeJA-induced stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis* (75–77). Consequently, in addition to the apoplast and plasma membrane, intracellular organelles such as peroxisomes might be ROS sources involved in regulating stomatal movements (**Figure 2**). Expression of catalase genes is tightly regulated by the circadian clock (190), suggesting that catalase might function as a coordinator of stomatal sensitivity to environmental stresses and the circadian clock.

In addition to catalase, ascorbate peroxidase functions as an H_2O_2 scavenger involved in regulating stomatal movement. It catalyzes the conversion of H_2O_2 into H_2O using ascorbate as an electron donor. Disruption of a cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase (APX1) in *Arabidopsis* altered the stomatal response to light but not to ABA (145). In tobacco plants, overexpression of dehydroascorbate reductase increased the ratio of ascorbate to dehydroascorbate in guard cells, reducing stomatal responsiveness to H_2O_2 and ABA (24). The involvement of ascorbate in stomatal responses to biotic stress has not yet been reported.

As discussed above, the myrosinases TGG1 and TGG2 are involved in ABA and MeJA signaling in guard cells (69, 189). Myrosinases are activated by ascorbate (20), and cleavage of indol-3-ylmethyl glucosinolate by myrosinase in the presence of ascorbic acid produces ascorbigen, a condensation product of ascorbic acid with 3-hydroxymethylindole, implying that the myrosinase system could provide the storage pool of ascorbate through its inactivation (14). Further work is needed to reveal the roles of ascorbate and myrosinases in guard cell signal integration.

4.2. Reactive Oxygen Species: Sensing

Biochemical data have shown that the PP2Cs ABI1 and ABI2 are downregulated by H_2O_2 in vitro (110, 111). In budding yeast, the GPX-like enzyme ORP1 functions as an H_2O_2 receptor that oxidizes and activates the bZIP transcription factor YAP1 (33). Miao et al. (117) proposed that, similar to the yeast ROS-sensing mechanism, AtGPX3 mediates ROS perception in guard cell ABA signaling. They also reported that AtGPX3 downregulates and interacts with ABI2 and (to a lesser extent) ABI1 in vitro. Therefore, a possible mechanism is that the ROS-sensing module ABI2-GPX3 functions as a signal decoder of guard cell signaling.

The mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) MPK3, MPK9, and MPK12 are activated by ABA and H_2O_2 (74, 99). *MPK3* antisense plants show attenuated ABA- and H_2O_2 -induced stomatal closure (55). Disruption of two MAPK genes, *MPK9* and *MPK12*, impairs stomatal closure responses to cold, ABA, chitosan, and yeast elicitor as well as H_2O_2 (74, 152, 153). Montillet et al. (122) recently reported that MPK3 and MPK6 are involved in flagellin but not ABA guard cell signaling. These findings highlight the importance of ROS-MAPK pathways in guard cell signal integration. *Arabidopsis* MAPKs are activated not only by phosphorylation but also by calmodulin binding (166), suggesting that Ca²⁺ modulates the signal integration pathway.

Hua et al. (61) recently showed that a leucine-rich-repeat receptor-like kinase, GUARD CELL HYDROGEN PEROXIDE–RESISTANT 1 (GHR1), acts downstream of ROS and PP2Cs and is required for ABA-, MeJA-, SA-, and flg22-induced stomatal closure. Like CPKs and SnRK2s, GHR1 directly phosphorylates and activates an S-type anion channel protein, SLOW ANION CHANNEL–ASSOCIATED 1 (SLAC1), in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes. Moreover, GHR1 interacts with ABI2 but not ABI1, and GHR1 activation of SLAC1 is inhibited by ABI2 but not ABI1 (61). Murata et al. (131) reported that the *abi2-1* mutation disrupts ABA signaling downstream of ROS production, whereas the *abi1-1* mutation does not. These findings, together with the GPX3 findings discussed above (117), suggest a dominant role of ABI2 over other PP2Cs in redox sensing in guard cells. Desikan et al. (35) have also reported that an *Arabidopsis* ethylene receptor, ETR1, mediates H₂O₂ signaling in guard cells and might serve as a sensor of H₂O₂, but the downstream event is entirely unknown.

4.3. Calcium: Transport

The calcium ion Ca^{2+} is an important second messenger in both plants and animals. In guard cells, changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ are sensed by Ca^{2+} -binding proteins (63, 92); here, we focus on CDPKs and CALCIUM-SENSING RECEPTOR (CAS). Cytosolic Ca^{2+} is positively involved in stomatal closure through activation of S-type anion channels (23, 124, 156, 160) and negatively involved in stomatal opening through downregulation of K_{in}^{+} channels (53, 82, 156).

Plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -permeable I_{Ca} channels of guard cells are activated by H_2O_2 (144) and protein phosphorylation (91). Disruption of *ABI2*, *GPX3*, or *GHR1* impairs the activation of I_{Ca} channels by H_2O_2 (61, 117, 131). The Ca^{2+} -dependent protein kinases CPK3 and CPK6 and the Ca^{2+} -independent protein kinase OST1 are also involved in ABA activation of I_{Ca} channels (2, 124). The I_{Ca} channel activation is required for stomatal closure induced by MeJA (127, 130), chitosan (88), and yeast elicitor (88, 183).

Nitric oxide (NO) promotes intracellular Ca^{2+} release from the endomembrane via a cGMPand cADPR-dependent pathway, leading to inactivation of K_{in}^+ channels and activation of anion channels (47). Unlike application of ROS, application of NO does not activate plasma membrane Ca^{2+} channels (47). Joudoi et al. (79) recently identified a nitrated derivative of cGMP, 8-nitrocGMP (8-nitroguanosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate), as an important signal molecule that acts upstream of cADPR-mediated Ca^{2+} release in guard cells. ROS molecules function upstream of NO production in guard cells (19, 79), suggesting that they are responsible for both Ca^{2+} influx through plasma membrane I_{Ca} channels and NO-mediated Ca^{2+} release from the endomembrane in guard cells.

4.4. Calcium: Sensing by CDPKs

The genes encoding CDPKs constitute a large family of 34 members in *Arabidopsis* (60). CDPKs contain EF hands in their C-terminal domains and are activated by Ca²⁺ binding with distinct

affinities (15, 50). They can therefore sense changes in $[Ca^{2+}]$, and some of them are known to be involved in guard cell signaling (19, 87, 92, 157).

Two *Arabidopsis* CDPKs, CPK3 and CPK6, are involved in ABA regulation of S-type anion channels and I_{Ca} channels, resulting in stomatal closure (124), although CPK6 rather than CPK3 is involved in MeJA- and MAMP-induced stomatal closure (127, 183). These results suggest that distinct Ca²⁺ input pathways may be triggered during abiotic and biotic stresses in guard cells. In a heterologous expression system using *X. laevis* oocytes, CPK6 directly phosphorylated and activated the S-type anion channel protein SLAC1 (18). Regulation of K_{in}⁺ channels by yeast elicitor is impaired in the *cpk6-1* mutant, suggesting that CPK6 phosphorylates substrates other than SLAC1 in guard cells (183). The possible CPK6 substrates are K_{in}⁺ channel proteins such as POTASSIUM CHANNEL IN *ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA* 1 (KAT1) (150), the NAD(P)H oxidases AtRBOHD and AtRBOHF (37), and unidentified I_{Ca} channels, activities of which are strongly related to CPK6 (124, 127, 183). More work will be needed to understand the predominant role of CPK6 in Ca²⁺ signaling in guard cells. Although CPK3 can be activated by cold, salt, heat, H₂O₂, and MAMPs in transient overexpression system using *Arabidopsis* mesophyll protoplasts, the endogenous kinase appears to be constitutively active in roots and leaves in planta (109). Thus, the possible role of CPK3 as a signal decoder remains to be clarified.

Two other CPKs, CPK4 and CPK11, are activated by ABA and phosphorylate two ABAresponsive transcription factors, ABA-RESPONSIVE ELEMENT BINDING FACTOR 1 (ABF1) and ABF4 (191). Disruption of CPK4 and CPK11 impairs stomatal closure induced by ABA (191) and by imposed Ca²⁺ oscillation (63) but not stomatal closure induced by MeJA (127). In addition, interaction between CPK11 and ABF3 has been observed (100). Boudsocq et al. (17) reported that CPK4, -5, -6, and -11 function as crucial positive regulators in flagellin signaling, and Gao et al. (46) reported that they phosphorylate WRKY transcription factors in bifurcated immune responses activated by the nucleotide-binding-domain leucine-rich-repeat proteins RESISTANT TO *PSEUDOMONAS SYRINGAE* 2 (RPS2) and RESISTANCE TO *PSEUDOMONAS SYRINGAE* PV. *MACULICOLA* 1 (RPM1). These results suggest that CPK4, -5, -6, and -11 provide hubs for signal crosstalk between abiotic and biotic stresses via transcriptional regulation of downstream target genes (16, 157). Another CPK, CPK12, phosphorylates ABF1 and ABF4 in vitro and phosphorylates ABI2 to increase phosphatase activity of ABI2 in vitro; *CPK12*–RNA interference lines do not show any ABA-related stomatal phenotype (188).

CPK21 and CPK23 directly phosphorylate and activate SLAC1 and SLAH3 in *X. laevis* oocytes (49, 50), and SLAC1 activation results in rapid stomatal closure (133, 172). However, CPK21 and CPK23 in planta function as negative regulators of drought and osmotic stress responses (44, 101). The challenge for future research is to reveal the environmental stimuli that trigger CPK21/CPK23-mediated SLAC1 activation in planta.

Another CPK, CPK10, interacts with a heat shock protein, HSP1, which is facilitated by Ca²⁺, and these proteins are involved in the regulation of K_{in}^+ channels by ABA (194). In addition to ABA-induced stomatal closure, CPK10 is involved in stomatal closure induced by high extracellular Ca²⁺ (194) and by imposed Ca²⁺ oscillation (63). CPK4 and CPK11 also interact with HSP1 (171).

In *Arabidopsis*, CPK1 localizes to oil bodies and peroxisomes. This protein is a regulator of the innate immune system (27) that phosphorylates and downregulates a calmodulin-stimulated Ca²⁺ pump, *ARABIDOPSIS* CA²⁺-ATPASE ISOFORM 2 (ACA2), in the endoplasmic reticulum membrane (64). Both CPK1 and CPK2 phosphorylate the NAD(P)H oxidases AtRBOHD and AtRBOHF (46), implying a possible role in regulating stomatal movement.

A noncanonical CDPK, CPK13, phosphorylates and inhibits the guard cell-expressed K_{in}⁺ channel proteins KAT1 and KAT2 in *X. laevis* oocytes (150). A single disruption of *CPK13* does

not cause a measurable stomatal phenotype, but *CPK13* overexpression suppresses light-induced stomatal opening (150).

Like CPK12, CPK32 phosphorylates ABF4 in vitro (26). And like *cpk3 cpk6* and *cpk4 cpk11* double mutants, the *cpk7 cpk8 cpk32* triple mutant shows impaired Ca²⁺ oscillation–induced stomatal closure (63).

4.5. Calcium: Sensing by CAS

CAS was originally identified as a plasma membrane–localized extracellular Ca²⁺-sensing receptor that exhibits low-affinity/high-capacity Ca²⁺ binding (56). Subsequent reports revealed that it is in fact a chloroplast-localized protein involved in extracellular Ca²⁺-induced $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ elevation (136, 179). Nonetheless, it is involved in stomatal closure in response to high extracellular Ca²⁺ (56) and water stress (176). A recent study demonstrated that CAS mediates flg22-induced stomatal closure (137). These results suggest that CAS functions as a Ca²⁺ signal decoder under abiotic and biotic stresses.

CAS mediates production of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (169), ROS, and NO (177) in guard cells in response to high extracellular Ca^{2+} . Nomura et al. (137) recently demonstrated that CAS mediates flg22-induced Ca^{2+} transients in guard cells and stomatal closure. Although flg22 induces stomatal closure via AtRBOHD activation (80, 103, 114), the NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor DPI does not inhibit flg22-induced stromal Ca^{2+} transients, and the *cas-1* mutant showed intact flg22-induced ROS generation (137), suggesting that stromal Ca^{2+} transients occur parallel to AtRBOHD activation in guard cell flg22 signaling. Moreover, phosphorylation of CAS is dependent on Ca^{2+} (164). However, the functional roles of the CAS phosphorylation in guard cell signaling are unknown.



Figure 3

Real-time imaging for an array of responses involved in stress signal integration in guard cells. In this example model, stress A causes $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ oscillation, resulting in a concentration increase of plant hormone A. Plant hormone A then induces $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ oscillation and activates enzyme A, leading to stomatal closure. In response to stomatal closure, the concentration of plant hormone B decreases. The question then is, if stress B happens at this point, what will we see? The development of sensors for in vivo detection of second messengers, plant hormones, and enzyme activities will allow high-resolution analysis of plant stress integration responses to help answer this and similar questions.

5. CONCLUSION

The emerging principle is that Ca^{2+} and ROS are key to signal integration in plants. The cellular mechanisms of ROS sensing remain unclear. It has been reported that stomatal aperture is programmed by defined $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ signatures. Recent studies have revealed that plant Ca^{2+} -binding proteins have a wide range of Ca^{2+} affinities and that the subcellular localization is tightly controlled. However, how the defined Ca^{2+} messages are decoded in plant cells remains elusive.

Guard cells rapidly transduce environmental input signals into activation of plasma membrane ion channels in order to respond to environmental stimuli, in most cases within a few minutes. Recently, techniques have been developed for directly visualizing plant hormones in vivo using genetically encoded biosensors (78, 175). In the future, simultaneous time-resolved live imaging of guard cells for second messengers, plant hormones, and enzyme activities will advance our understanding of how guard cells achieve their fine-tuned integration to ensure growth optimization (**Figure 3**).

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. Guard cells employ signal transduction mechanisms that integrate diverse environmental signals with reactive oxygen species (ROS) and Ca²⁺ signals in order to optimize stomatal aperture. How environmental signals are integrated into ROS and Ca²⁺ signatures remains to be clarified.
- 2. ROS and Ca²⁺ are versatile second messengers and play crucial roles in signal integration.
- 3. The Ca²⁺ signature is decoded by Ca²⁺-binding proteins, including calcium-dependent protein kinase (CDPKs) and CALCIUM-SENSING RECEPTOR (CAS). The mechanisms by which the Ca²⁺ signature is decoded to yield stimulus-specific stomatal responses need investigation. Moreover, plasma membrane Ca²⁺-permeable cation channels in guard cells need to be identified.
- 4. ROS molecules are produced in several systems in the signal integration. The temporalspatial dynamics of ROS generation, which are likely to be associated with the Ca²⁺ signature, need to be clarified.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to researchers whose relevant work was not cited owing to space constraints. We thank Mr. Wenxiu Ye for critical reading of the manuscript.

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Acharya BR, Assmann SM. 2009. Hormone interactions in stomatal function. Plant Mol. Biol. 69:451-62
- Acharya BR, Jeon BW, Zhang W, Assmann SM. 2013. Open Stomata 1 (OST1) is limiting in abscisic acid responses of Arabidopsis guard cells. *New Phytol.* 200:1049–63

- Akter N, Okuma E, Sobahan MA, Uraji M, Munemasa S, et al. 2012. Negative regulation of methyl jasmonate-induced stomatal closure by glutathione in *Arabidopsis. J. Plant Growth Regul.* 32:208–15
- Akter N, Sobahan MA, Hossain MA, Uraji M, Nakamura Y, et al. 2010. Involvement of intracellular glutathione in methyl jasmonate signaling in *Arabidopsis* guard cells. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 74:2504–6
- Akter N, Sobahan MA, Uraji M, Ye W, Mori IC, et al. 2012. Effects of depletion of glutathione on abscisic acid- and methyl jasmonate-induced stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 76:1568–70
- Alméras E, Stolz S, Vollenweider S, Reymond P, Mène-Saffrané L, Farmer EE. 2003. Reactive electrophile species activate defense gene expression in *Arabidopsis. Plant J.* 34:205–16
- Alvarez C, Bermudez MA, Romero LC, Gotor C, Garcia I. 2012. Cysteine homeostasis plays an essential role in plant immunity. *New Phytol.* 193:165–77
- An Z, Jing W, Liu YL, Zhang WH. 2008. Hydrogen peroxide generated by copper amine oxidase is involved in abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure in *Vicia faba. J. Exp. Bot.* 59:815–25
- 9. Arthur JR. 2000. The glutathione peroxidases. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 57:1825-35
- Blatt MR, Armstrong F. 1993. K⁺ channels of stomatal guard cells: abscisic-acid-evoked control of the outward rectifier mediated by cytoplasmic pH. *Planta* 191:330–41
- Block A, Schmelz E, O'Donnell PJ, Jones JB, Klee HJ. 2005. Systemic acquired tolerance to virulent bacterial pathogens in tomato. *Plant Physiol.* 138:1481–90
- Boller T, Felix G. 2009. A renaissance of elicitors: perception of microbe-associated molecular patterns and danger signals by pattern-recognition receptors. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 60:379–406
- Bolwell GP, Bindschedler LV, Blee KA, Butt VS, Davies DR, et al. 2002. The apoplastic oxidative burst in response to biotic stress in plants: a three-component system. J. Exp. Bot. 53:1367–76
- Bones A, Rossiter JT. 1996. The myrosinase-glucosinolate system, its organization and biochemistry. *Physiol. Plant.* 97:194–208
- Boudsocq M, Droillard MJ, Regad L, Laurière C. 2012. Characterization of Arabidopsis calciumdependent protein kinases: activated or not by calcium? *Biochem. J.* 447:291–99
- 16. Boudsocq M, Sheen J. 2013. CDPKs in immune and stress signaling. Trends Plant Sci. 18:30-40
- Boudsocq M, Willmann MR, McCormack M, Lee H, Shan L, et al. 2010. Differential innate immune signalling via Ca²⁺ sensor protein kinases. *Nature* 464:418–22
- Brandt B, Brodsky DE, Xue S, Negi J, Iba K, et al. 2012. Reconstitution of abscisic acid activation of SLAC1 anion channel by CPK6 and OST1 kinases and branched ABI1 PP2C phosphatase action. *PNAS* 109:10593–98
- Bright J, Desikan R, Hancock JT, Weir IS, Neill SJ. 2006. ABA-induced NO generation and stomatal closure in Arabidopsis are dependent on H₂O₂ synthesis. *Plant J.* 45:113–22
- Burmeister WP, Cottaz S, Rollin P, Vasella A, Henrissat B. 2000. High resolution X-ray crystallography shows that ascorbate is a cofactor for myrosinase and substitutes for the function of the catalytic base. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275:39385–93
- Catala R, Ouyang J, Abreu IA, Hu Y, Seo H, et al. 2007. The *Arabidopsis* E3 SUMO ligase SIZ1 regulates plant growth and drought responses. *Plant Cell* 19:2952–66
- Chen L, Dodd IC, Davies WJ, Wilkinson S. 2013. Ethylene limits abscisic acid- or soil drying-induced stomatal closure in aged wheat leaves. *Plant Cell Environ*. 36:1850–59
- Chen YH, Hu L, Punta M, Bruni R, Hillerich B, et al. 2010. Homologue structure of the SLAC1 anion channel for closing stomata in leaves. *Nature* 467:1074–80
- Chen Z, Gallie DR. 2004. The ascorbic acid redox state controls guard cell signaling and stomatal movement. *Plant Cell* 16:1143–62
- Chinchilla D, Bauer Z, Regenass M, Boller T, Felix G. 2006. The *Arabidopsis* receptor kinase FLS2 binds flg22 and determines the specificity of flagellin perception. *Plant Cell* 18:465–76
- Choi HI, Park HJ, Park JH, Kim S, Im MY, et al. 2005. Arabidopsis calcium-dependent protein kinase AtCPK32 interacts with ABF4, a transcriptional regulator of abscisic acid-responsive gene expression, and modulates its activity. *Plant Physiol.* 139:1750–61
- Coca M, San Segundo B. 2010. AtCPK1 calcium-dependent protein kinase mediates pathogen resistance in Arabidopsis. *Plant J.* 63:526–40

- Corpas FJ, Barroso JB, del Río LA. 2001. Peroxisomes as a source of reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide signal molecules in plant cells. *Trends Plant Sci.* 6:145–50
- 29. Daszkowska-Golec A, Szarejko I. 2013. Open or close the gate—stomata action under the control of phytohormones in drought stress conditions. *Front. Plant Sci.* 4:138
- Dat JF, Capelli N, Folzer H, Bourgeade P, Badot PM. 2004. Sensing and signalling during plant flooding. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 42:273–82
- Daudi A, Cheng Z, O'Brien JA, Mammarella N, Khan S, et al. 2012. The apoplastic oxidative burst peroxidase in *Arabidopsis* is a major component of pattern-triggered immunity. *Plant Cell* 24:275–87
- del Río LA, Sandalio LM, Corpas FJ, Palma JM, Barroso JB. 2006. Reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species in peroxisomes. Production, scavenging, and role in cell signaling. *Plant Physiol.* 141:330– 35
- Delaunay A, Pflieger D, Barrault MB, Vinh J, Toledano MB. 2002. A thiol peroxidase is an H₂O₂ receptor and redox-transducer in gene activation. *Cell* 111:471–81
- Desclos-Theveniau M, Arnaud D, Huang TY, Lin GJ, Chen WY, et al. 2012. The Arabidopsis lectin receptor kinase LecRK-V.5 represses stomatal immunity induced by *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* DC3000. *PLOS Pathog.* 8:e1002513
- Desikan R, Hancock JT, Bright J, Harrison J, Weir I, et al. 2005. A role for ETR1 in hydrogen peroxide signaling in stomatal guard cells. *Plant Physiol.* 137:831–34
- Desikan R, Last K, Harrett-Williams R, Tagliavia C, Harter K, et al. 2006. Ethylene-induced stomatal closure in Arabidopsis occurs via AtrobhF-mediated hydrogen peroxide synthesis. *Plant J*. 47:907–16
- Dubiella U, Seybold H, Durian G, Komander E, Lassig R, et al. 2013. Calcium-dependent protein kinase/ NADPH oxidase activation circuit is required for rapid defense signal propagation. PNAS 110:8744–49
- Eisinger WR, Ehrhardt DW, Briggs WR. 2012. Microtubules are essential for guard-cell function in Vicia and Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant 5:601–10
- Eisinger WR, Kirik V, Lewis C, Ehrhardt DW, Briggs WR. 2012. Quantitative changes in microtubule distribution correlate with guard cell function in *Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant* 5:716–25
- Evans NH. 2003. Modulation of guard cell plasma membrane potassium currents by methyl jasmonate. *Plant Physiol.* 131:8–11
- 41. Farmer EE, Davoine C. 2007. Reactive electrophile species. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 10:380-86
- 42. Felix G, Duran JD, Volko S, Boller T. 1999. Plants have a sensitive perception system for the most conserved domain of bacterial flagellin. *Plant J*. 18:265–76
- 43. Feng F, Yang F, Rong W, Wu X, Zhang J, et al. 2012. A *Xanthomonas* uridine 5'-monophosphate transferase inhibits plant immune kinases. *Nature* 485:114–18
- 44. Franz S, Ehlert B, Liese A, Kurth J, Cazalé AC, Romeis T. 2011. Calcium-dependent protein kinase CPK21 functions in abiotic stress response in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol. Plant* 4:83–96
- Gao J, Wang N, Wang GX. 2013. Saccharomyces cerevisiae-induced stomatal closure mainly mediated by salicylhydroxamic acid-sensitive peroxidases in Vicia faba. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 65:27–31
- 46. Gao X, Chen X, Lin W, Chen S, Lu D, et al. 2013. Bifurcation of *Arabidopsis* NLR immune signaling via Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinases. *PLOS Pathog.* 9:e1003127
- 47. Garcia-Mata C, Gay R, Sokolovski S, Hills A, Lamattina L, Blatt MR. 2003. Nitric oxide regulates K⁺ and Cl⁻ channels in guard cells through a subset of abscisic acid-evoked signaling pathways. PNAS 100:11116–21
- Gehring CA, Irving HR, McConchie R, Parish RW. 1997. Jasmonates induce intracellular alkalinization and closure of *Paphiopedilum* guard cells. *Ann. Bot.* 80:485–89
- Geiger D, Maierhofer T, Al-Rasheid KA, Scherzer S, Mumm P, et al. 2011. Stomatal closure by fast abscisic acid signaling is mediated by the guard cell anion channel SLAH3 and the receptor RCAR1. Sci. Signal. 4:ra32
- Geiger D, Scherzer S, Mumm P, Marten I, Ache P, et al. 2010. Guard cell anion channel SLAC1 is regulated by CDPK protein kinases with distinct Ca²⁺ affinities. *PNAS* 107:8023–28
- Gómez-Gómez L, Boller T. 2000. FLS2: an LRR receptor-like kinase involved in the perception of the bacterial elicitor flagellin in *Arabidopsis. Mol. Cell* 5:1003–11
- Gonugunta VK, Srivastava N, Puli MR, Raghavendra AS. 2008. Nitric oxide production occurs after cytosolic alkalinization during stomatal closure induced by abscisic acid. *Plant Cell Environ.* 31:1717–24

- Grabov A, Blatt MR. 1997. Parallel control of the inward-rectifier K⁺ channel by cytosolic-free Ca²⁺ and pH in *Vicia* guard cells. *Planta* 201:84–95
- 54. Grill E, Loffler S, Winnacker EL, Zenk M. 1989. Phytochelatins, the heavy-metal-binding peptides of plants, are synthesized from glutathione by a specific γ-glutamylcysteine dipeptidyl transpeptidase (phytochelatin synthase). PNAS 86:6838–42
- Gudesblat GE, Iusem ND, Morris PC. 2007. Guard cell-specific inhibition of *Arabidopsis MPK3* expression causes abnormal stomatal responses to abscisic acid and hydrogen peroxide. *New Phytol.* 173:713–21
- Han S, Tang R, Anderson LK, Woerner TE, Pei ZM. 2003. A cell surface receptor mediates extracellular Ca²⁺ sensing in guard cells. *Nature* 425:196–200
- Hoque TS, Okuma E, Uraji M, Furuichi T, Sasaki T, et al. 2012. Inhibitory effects of methylglyoxal on light-induced stomatal opening and inward K⁺ channel activity in *Arabidopsis. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 76:617–19
- Hoque TS, Uraji M, Ye W, Hossain MA, Nakamura Y, Murata Y. 2012. Methylglyoxal-induced stomatal closure and peroxidase-mediated ROS production in Arabidopsis. *J. Plant Physiol.* 169:979–86
- Hossain MS, Hossain MA, Ye W, Uraji M, Okuma E, et al. 2013. Glucosinolate degradation products, isothiocyanates, nitriles, and thiocyanates, induce stomatal closure accompanied by peroxidase-mediated reactive oxygen species production in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 77:977–83
- Hrabak EM, Chan CW, Gribskov M, Harper JF, Choi JH, et al. 2003. The Arabidopsis CDPK-SnRK superfamily of protein kinases. *Plant Physiol.* 132:666–80
- Hua D, Wang C, He J, Liao H, Duan Y, et al. 2012. A plasma membrane receptor kinase, GHR1, mediates abscisic acid- and hydrogen peroxide-regulated stomatal movement in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 24:2546–61
- Hubbard KE, Nishimura N, Hitomi K, Getzoff ED, Schroeder JI. 2010. Early abscisic acid signal transduction mechanisms: newly discovered components and newly emerging questions. *Genes Dev.* 24:1695–708
- 63. Hubbard KE, Siegel RS, Valerio G, Brandt B, Schroeder JI. 2012. Abscisic acid and CO₂ signalling via calcium sensitivity priming in guard cells, new CDPK mutant phenotypes and a method for improved resolution of stomatal stimulus-response analyses. *Ann. Bot.* 109:5–17
- Hwang I, Harper JF, Liang F, Sze H. 2000. Calmodulin activation of an endoplasmic reticulum-located calcium pump involves an interaction with the N-terminal autoinhibitory domain. *Plant Physiol.* 122:157– 68
- Iizasa E, Mitsutomi M, Nagano Y. 2010. Direct binding of a plant LysM receptor-like kinase, LysM RLK1/CERK1, to chitin in vitro. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285:2996–3004
- Iqbal A, Yabuta Y, Takeda T, Nakano Y, Shigeoka S. 2006. Hydroperoxide reduction by thioredoxinspecific glutathione peroxidase isoenzymes of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. FEBS J. 273:5589–97
- Irving HR, Gehring CA, Parish RW. 1992. Changes in cytosolic pH and calcium of guard cells precede stomatal movements. *PNAS* 89:1790–94
- Islam MM, Hossain MA, Jannat R, Munemasa S, Nakamura Y, et al. 2010. Cytosolic alkalization and cytosolic calcium oscillation in Arabidopsis guard cells response to ABA and MeJA. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 51:1721–30
- Islam MM, Tani C, Watanabe-Sugimoto M, Uraji M, Jahan MS, et al. 2009. Myrosinases, TGG1 and TGG2, redundantly function in ABA and MeJA signaling in Arabidopsis guard cells. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 50:1171–75
- Islam MM, Ye W, Matsushima D, Khokon MA, Munemasa S, et al. 2014. Inhibition by acrolein of lightinduced stomatal opening through inhibition of inward-rectifying potassium channels in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 21:1–4
- Issak M, Okuma E, Munemasa S, Nakamura Y, Mori IC, Murata Y. 2013. Neither endogenous abscisic acid nor endogenous jasmonate is involved in salicylic acid-, yeast elicitor-, or chitosan-induced stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis thaliana. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 77:1111–13
- Jackson MB. 2002. Long-distance signalling from roots to shoots assessed: the flooding story. J. Exp. Bot. 53:175–81

- Jahan MS, Ogawa K, Nakamura Y, Shimoishi Y, Mori IC, Murata Y. 2008. The deficient glutathione in guard cells facilitates abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure but does not affect light-induced stomatal opening. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 72:2795–98
- 74. Jammes F, Song C, Shin D, Munemasa S, Takeda K, et al. 2009. MAP kinases MPK9 and MPK12 are preferentially expressed in guard cells and positively regulate ROS-mediated ABA signaling. PNAS 106:20520–25
- Jannat R, Uraji M, Hossain MA, Islam MM, Nakamura Y, et al. 2012. Catalases negatively regulate methyl jasmonate signaling in guard cells. J. Plant Physiol. 169:1012–16
- Jannat R, Uraji M, Morofuji M, Hossain MM, Islam MM, et al. 2011. Roles of CATALASE2 in abscisic acid signaling in Arabidopsis guard cells. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 75:2034–36
- Jannat R, Uraji M, Morofuji M, Islam MM, Bloom RE, et al. 2011. Roles of hydrogen peroxide accumulation in abscisic acid signaling in *Arabidopsis* guard cells. *7. Plant Physiol.* 168:1919–26
- Jones AM, Danielson JA, Manojkumar SN, Lanquar V, Grossmann G, Frommer WB. 2014. Abscisic acid dynamics in roots detected with genetically encoded FRET sensors. *eLife* 3:e01741
- Joudoi T, Shichiri Y, Kamizono N, Akaike T, Sawa T, et al. 2013. Nitrated cyclic GMP modulates guard cell signaling in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 25:558–71
- Kadota Y, Sklenar J, Derbyshire P, Stransfeld L, Asai S, et al. 2014. Direct regulation of the NADPH oxidase RBOHD by the PRR-associated kinase BIK1 during plant immunity. *Mol. Cell* 54:43–55
- Kamada T, Nito K, Hayashi H, Mano S, Hayashi M, Nishimura M. 2003. Functional differentiation of peroxisomes revealed by expression profiles of peroxisomal genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 44:1275–89
- Kelly WK, Esser JE, Schroeder JI. 1995. Effects of cytosolic calcium and limited, possible dual, effects of G protein modulators on guard cell inward potassium channels. *Plant J.* 8:479–89
- Khokon MAR, Hossain MA, Munemasa S, Uraji M, Nakamura Y, et al. 2010. Yeast elicitor-induced stomatal closure along with peroxidase-mediated ROS production in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Physiol.* 51:1915–21
- Khokon MAR, Jahan MS, Rahman T, Hossain MA, Muroyama D, et al. 2011. Allylisothiocyanate (AITC) induces stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Environ.* 34:1900–6
- Khokon MAR, Okuma E, Hossain MA, Munemasa S, Uraji M, et al. 2011. Involvement of extracellular oxidative burst in salicylic acid-induced stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Environ.* 34:434–43
- Khokon MAR, Uraji M, Munemasa S, Okuma E, Nakamura Y, et al. 2010. Chitosan-induced stomatal closure accompanied with peroxidase-mediated ROS production in *Arabidopsis. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 74:2313–15
- Kim TH, Böhmer M, Hu H, Nishimura N, Schroeder JI. 2010. Guard cell signal transduction network: advances in understanding abscisic acid, CO₂, and Ca²⁺ signaling. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 61:561–91
- Klüsener B, Young JJ, Murata Y, Allen GJ, Mori IC, et al. 2002. Convergence of calcium signaling pathways of pathogenic elicitors and abscisic acid in Arabidopsis guard cells. *Plant Physiol.* 130:2152–63
- Kobayashi M, Ohura I, Kawakita K, Yokota N, Fujiwara M, et al. 2007. Calcium-dependent protein kinases regulate the production of reactive oxygen species by potato NADPH oxidase. *Plant Cell* 19:1065– 80
- Koers S, Guzel-Deger A, Marten I, Roelfsema MR. 2011. Barley mildew and its elicitor chitosan promote closed stomata by stimulating guard-cell S-type anion channels. *Plant J*. 68:670–80
- Köhler B, Blatt MR. 2002. Protein phosphorylation activates the guard cell Ca²⁺ channel and is a prerequisite for gating by abscisic acid. *Plant J.* 32:185–94
- Kudla J, Batistic O, Hashimoto K. 2010. Calcium signals: the lead currency of plant information processing. *Plant Cell* 22:541–63
- 93. Kwak JM, Mori IC, Pei ZM, Leonhardt N, Torres MA, et al. 2003. NADPH oxidase *AtrbobD* and *AtrbobF* genes function in ROS-dependent ABA signaling in *Arabidopsis. EMBO 7.* 22:2623–33
- Le Deunff E, Davoine C, Le Dantec C, Billard JP, Huault C. 2004. Oxidative burst and expression of germin/oxo genes during wounding of ryegrass leaf blades: comparison with senescence of leaf sheaths. Plant J. 38:421–31
- Lee S, Choi H, Suh S, Doo IS, Oh KY, et al. 1999. Oligogalacturonic acid and chitosan reduce stomatal aperture by inducing the evolution of reactive oxygen species from guard cells of tomato and *Commelina communis. Plant Physiol.* 121:147–52

- Li L, Li M, Yu L, Zhou Z, Liang X, et al. 2014. The FLS2-associated kinase BIK1 directly phosphorylates the NADPH oxidase RbohD to control plant immunity. *Cell Host Microbe* 15:329–38
- Liu J, Elmore JM, Fuglsang AT, Palmgren MG, Staskawicz BJ, Coaker G. 2009. RIN4 functions with plasma membrane H⁺-ATPases to regulate stomatal apertures during pathogen attack. *PLOS Biol.* 7:e1000139
- Lozano-Durán R, Bourdais G, He SY, Robatzek S. 2014. The bacterial effector HopM1 suppresses stomatal immunity to promote virulence. *New Phytol.* 202:259–69
- Lu C, Han MH, Guevara-Garcia A, Fedoroff NV. 2002. Mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in postgermination arrest of development by abscisic acid. PNAS 99:15812–17
- 100. Lynch T, Erickson BJ, Finkelstein RR. 2012. Direct interactions of ABA-insensitive(ABI)-clade protein phosphatase(PP)2Cs with calcium-dependent protein kinases and ABA response element-binding bZIPs may contribute to turning off ABA response. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 80:647–58
- Ma SY, Wu WH. 2007. AtCPK23 functions in *Arabidopsis* responses to drought and salt stresses. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 65:511–18
- 102. Ma Y, Szostkiewicz I, Korte A, Moes D, Yang Y, et al. 2009. Regulators of PP2C phosphatase activity function as abscisic acid sensors. *Science* 324:1064–68
- Macho AP, Boutrot F, Rathjen JP, Zipfel C. 2012. Aspartate oxidase plays an important role in Arabidopsis stomatal immunity. *Plant Physiol.* 159:1845–56
- 104. Macho AP, Zipfel C. 2014. Plant PRRs and the activation of innate immune signaling. Mol. Cell 54:263-72
- MacRobbie EA. 1998. Signal transduction and ion channels in guard cells. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 353:1475–88
- Mannervik B, Danielson UH. 1988. Glutathione transferases–structure and catalytic activity. CRC Crit. Rev. Biochem. 123:283–337
- Mano J. 2012. Reactive carbonyl species: their production from lipid peroxides, action in environmental stress, and the detoxification mechanism. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 59:90–97
- May MJ, Vernoux T, Leaver C, Van Montagu M, Inze D. 1998. Glutathione homeostasis in plants: implications for environmental sensing and plant development. *7. Exp. Bot.* 49:649–67
- 109. Mehlmer N, Wurzinger B, Stael S, Hofmann-Rodrigues D, Csaszar E, et al. 2010. The Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinase CPK3 is required for MAPK-independent salt-stress acclimation in Arabidopsis. *Plant J*. 63:484–98
- Meinhard M, Grill E. 2001. Hydrogen peroxide is a regulator of ABI1, a protein phosphatase 2C from Arabidopsis. FEBS Lett. 508:443–46
- 111. Meinhard M, Rodriguez PL, Grill E. 2002. The sensitivity of ABI2 to hydrogen peroxide links the abscisic acid-response regulator to redox signalling. *Planta* 214:775–82
- Melotto M, Underwood W, He SY. 2008. Role of stomata in plant innate immunity and foliar bacterial diseases. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 46:101–22
- Melotto M, Underwood W, Koczan J, Nomura K, He SY. 2006. Plant stomata function in innate immunity against bacterial invasion. *Cell* 126:969–80
- 114. Mersmann S, Bourdais G, Rietz S, Robatzek S. 2010. Ethylene signaling regulates accumulation of the FLS2 receptor and is required for the oxidative burst contributing to plant immunity. *Plant Physiol.* 154:391–400
- Metraux JP, Signer H, Ryals J, Ward E, Wyss-Benz M, et al. 1990. Increase in salicylic acid at the onset of systemic acquired resistance in cucumber. *Science* 250:1004–6
- 116. Mi L, Xiao Z, Hood BL, Dakshanamurthy S, Wang X, et al. 2008. Covalent binding to tubulin by isothiocyanates. A mechanism of cell growth arrest and apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283:22136–46
- 117. Miao Y, Lv D, Wang P, Wang XC, Chen J, et al. 2006. An Arabidopsis glutathione peroxidase functions as both a redox transducer and a scavenger in abscisic acid and drought stress responses. Plant Cell 18:2749–66
- Miura K, Lee J, Jin JB, Yoo CY, Miura T, Hasegawa PM. 2009. Sumoylation of ABI5 by the Arabidopsis SUMO E3 ligase SIZ1 negatively regulates abscisic acid signaling. PNAS 106:5418–23
- 119. Miura K, Okamoto H, Okuma E, Hasegawa PM, Murata Y. 2013. SIZ1 deficiency causes reduced stomatal aperture and enhanced drought tolerance via controlling salicylic acid-induced accumulation of reactive oxygen species in Arabidopsis. *Plant J.* 73:91–104

- Miura K, Rus A, Sharkhuu A, Yokoi S, Karthikeyan AS, et al. 2005. The Arabidopsis SUMO E3 ligase SIZ1 controls phosphate deficiency responses. PNAS 102:7760–65
- 121. Miya A, Albert P, Shinya T, Desaki Y, Ichimura K, et al. 2007. CERK1, a LysM receptor kinase, is essential for chitin elicitor signaling in *Arabidopsis*. *PNAS* 104:19613–18
- 122. Montillet JL, Leonhardt N, Mondy S, Tranchimand S, Rumeau D, et al. 2013. An abscisic acidindependent oxylipin pathway controls stomatal closure and immune defense in *Arabidopsis. PLOS Biol.* 11:e1001513
- 123. Morgan PW, He CJ, De Greef JA, De Proft MP. 1990. Does water deficit stress promote ethylene synthesis by intact plants? *Plant Physiol.* 94:1616–24
- 124. Mori IC, Murata Y, Yang Y, Munemasa S, Wang YF, et al. 2006. CDPKs CPK6 and CPK3 function in ABA regulation of guard cell S-type anion- and Ca²⁺-permeable channels and stomatal closure. *PLOS Biol.* 4:e327
- 125. Mori IC, Pinontoan R, Kawano T, Muto S. 2001. Involvement of superoxide generation in salicylic acid-induced stomatal closure in *Vicia faba*. *Plant Cell Physiol*. 42:1383–88
- 126. Mosher S, Moeder W, Nishimura N, Jikumaru Y, Joo SH, et al. 2010. The lesion-mimic mutant cpr22 shows alterations in abscisic acid signaling and abscisic acid insensitivity in a salicylic acid-dependent manner. *Plant Physiol.* 152:1901–13
- 127. Munemasa S, Hossain MA, Nakamura Y, Mori IC, Murata Y. 2011 The *Arabidopsis* calcium dependent protein kinase, CPK6, functions as a positive regulator of methyl jasmonate signaling in guard cells. *Plant Physiol.* 155:553–61
- Munemasa S, Mori IC, Murata Y. 2011. Methyl jasmonate signaling and signal crosstalk between methyl jasmonate and abscisic acid in guard cells. *Plant Signal. Behav.* 6:939–41
- 129. Munemasa S, Muroyama D, Nagahashi H, Nakamura Y, Mori IC, Murata Y. 2013. Regulation of reactive oxygen species-mediated abscisic acid signaling in guard cells and drought tolerance by glutathione. *Front. Plant Physiol.* 4:472
- 130. Munemasa S, Oda K, Watanabe-Sugimoto M, Nakamura Y, Shimoishi Y, Murata Y. 2007. The *coronatine-insensitive 1* mutation reveals the hormonal signaling interaction between abscisic acid and methyl jasmonate in Arabidopsis guard cells. Specific impairment of ion channel activation and second messenger production. *Plant Physiol.* 143:1398–407
- 131. Murata Y, Pei ZM, Mori IC, Schroeder JI. 2001. Abscisic acid activation of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ channels in guard cells requires cytosolic NAD(P)H and is differentially disrupted upstream and downstream of reactive oxygen species production in *abi1-1* and *abi2-1* protein phosphatase 2C mutants. *Plant Cell* 13:2513–23
- Narayana I, Lalonde S, Saini HS. 1991. Water-stress-induced ethylene production in wheat: a fact or artifact? *Plant Physiol.* 96:406–10
- 133. Negi J, Matsuda O, Nagasawa T, Oba Y, Takahashi H, et al. 2008. CO₂ regulator SLAC1 and its homologues are essential for anion homeostasis in plant cells. *Nature* 452:483–86
- Noctor G, Foyer CH. 1998. Ascorbate and glutathione: keeping active oxygen under control. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 49:249–79
- Noctor G, Mhamdi A, Foyer CH. 2014. The roles of reactive oxygen metabolism in drought: not so cut and dried. *Plant Physiol.* 164:1636–48
- 136. Nomura H, Komori T, Kobori M, Nakahira Y, Shiina T. 2008. Evidence for chloroplast control of external Ca²⁺-induced cytosolic Ca²⁺ transients and stomatal closure. *Plant J.* 53:988–98
- 137. Nomura H, Komori T, Uemura S, Kanda Y, Shimotani K, et al. 2012. Chloroplast-mediated activation of plant immune signalling in *Arabidopsis. Nat. Commun.* 3:926
- O'Brien JA, Daudi A, Finch P, Butt VS, Whitelegge JP, et al. 2012. A peroxidase-dependent apoplastic oxidative burst in cultured Arabidopsis cells functions in MAMP-elicited defense. *Plant Physiol.* 158:2013– 27
- 139. Ogasawara Y, Kaya H, Hiraoka G, Yumoto F, Kimura S, et al. 2008. Synergistic activation of the *Arabidopsis* NADPH oxidase AtrobhD by Ca²⁺ and phosphorylation. *7. Biol. Chem.* 283:8885–92
- 140. Okuma E, Jahan MS, Munemasa S, Hossain MA, Muroyama D, et al. 2011. Negative regulation of abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure by glutathione in *Arabidopsis. J. Plant Physiol.* 168:2048–55

- 141. Okuma E, Nozawa R, Murata Y, Miura K. 2014. Accumulation of endogenous salicylic acid confers drought tolerance to *Arabidopsis. Plant Signal. Bebav.* 9:e28085
- 142. Park BS, Song JT, Seo HS. 2011. *Arabidopsis* nitrate reductase activity is stimulated by the E3 SUMO ligase AtSIZ1. *Nat. Commun.* 2:400
- 143. Park SY, Fung P, Nishimura N, Jensen DR, Fujii H, et al. 2009. Abscisic acid inhibits type 2C protein phosphatases via the PYR/PYL family of START proteins. *Science* 324:1068–71
- 144. Pei ZM, Murata Y, Benning G, Thomine S, Klüsener B, et al. 2000. Hydrogen peroxide-activated Ca²⁺ channels mediate guard cell abscisic acid signalling. *Nature* 406:731–34
- 145. Pnueli L, Liang H, Rozenberg M, Mittler R. 2003. Growth suppression, altered stomatal responses, and augmented induction of heat shock proteins in cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase (Apx1)-deficient Arabidopsis plants. Plant 7. 34:187–203
- 146. Pospíšilová J. 2003. Interaction of cytokinins and abscisic acid during regulation of stomatal opening in bean leaves. *Photosynthetica* 41:49–56
- 147. Rahantaniaina MS, Tuzet A, Mhamdi A, Noctor G. 2013. Missing links in understanding redox signaling via thiol/disulfide modulation: How is glutathione oxidized in plants? *Front. Plant Sci.* 4:477
- 148. Raschke K. 1975. Stomatal action. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 26:309-40
- Robatzek S, Chinchilla D, Boller T. 2006. Ligand-induced endocytosis of the pattern recognition receptor FLS2 in *Arabidopsis. Genes Dev.* 20:537–42
- Ronzier E, Corratgé-Faillie C, Sanchez F, Prado K, Briere C, et al. 2014. CPK13, a non-canonical CPK, specifically inhibits KAT2 and KAT1 Shaker channels and reduces stomatal opening. *Plant Physiol*. 166:314–26
- 151. Saito N, Munemasa S, Nakamura Y, Shimoishi Y, Mori IC, Murata Y. 2008. Roles of RCN1, regulatory A subunit of protein phosphatase 2A, in methyl jasmonate signaling and signal crosstalk between methyl jasmonate and abscisic acid. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 49:1396–401
- Salam MA, Jammes F, Hossain MA, Ye W, Nakamura Y, et al. 2012. MAP kinases, MPK9 and MPK12, regulate chitosan-induced stomatal closure. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 76:1785–87
- 153. Salam MA, Jammes F, Hossain MA, Ye W, Nakamura Y, et al. 2012. Two guard cell-preferential MAPKs, MPK9 and MPK12, regulate YEL signaling in *Arabidopsis* guard cells. *Plant Biol.* 15:436–42
- 154. Sattler SE, Mène-Saffrané L, Farmer EE, Krischke M, Mueller MJ, DellaPenna D. 2006. Nonenzymatic lipid peroxidation reprograms gene expression and activates defense markers in *Arabidopsis* tocopheroldeficient mutants. *Plant Cell* 18:3706–20
- 155. Savchenko T, Kolla VA, Wang CQ, Nasafi Z, Hicks DR, et al. 2014. Functional convergence of oxylipin and abscisic acid pathways controls stomatal closure in response to drought. *Plant Physiol.* 164:1151–60
- Schroeder JI, Hagiwara S. 1989. Cytosolic calcium regulates ion channels in the plasma membrane of Vicia faba guard cells. Nature 338:427–30
- Schulz P, Herde M, Romeis T. 2013. Calcium-dependent protein kinases: hubs in plant stress signaling and development. *Plant Physiol.* 163:523–30
- Schumacher HM, Gundlach H, Fiedler F, Zenk MH. 1987. Elicitation of benzophenanthridine alkaloid synthesis in *Eschscholtzia* cell cultures. *Plant Cell Rep.* 6:410–13
- Shangari N, O'Brien PJ. 2000. The cytotoxic mechanism of glyoxal involves oxidative stress. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 68:1433–42
- 160. Siegel RS, Xue S, Murata Y, Yang Y, Nishimura N, et al. 2009. Calcium elevation-dependent and attenuated resting calcium-dependent abscisic acid induction of stomatal closure and abscisic acid-induced enhancement of calcium sensitivities of S-type anion and inward-rectifying K⁺ channels in Arabidopsis guard cells. *Plant J*. 59:207–20
- Silipo A, Molinaro A, Sturiale L, Dow JM, Erbs G, et al. 2005. The elicitation of plant innate immunity by lipooligosaccharide of *Xanthomonas campestris. J. Biol. Chem.* 280:33660–68
- 162. Sirichandra C, Gu D, Hu HC, Davanture M, Lee S, et al. 2009. Phosphorylation of the Arabidopsis AtrbohF NADPH oxidase by OST1 protein kinase. FEBS Lett. 583:2982–86
- 163. Srivastava N, Gonugunta VK, Puli MR, Raghavendra AS. 2009. Nitric oxide production occurs downstream of reactive oxygen species in guard cells during stomatal closure induced by chitosan in abaxial epidermis of *Pisum sativum*. *Planta* 229:757–65

- 164. Stael S, Rocha AG, Wimberger T, Anrather D, Vothknecht UC, Teige M. 2012. Cross-talk between calcium signalling and protein phosphorylation at the thylakoid. *J. Exp. Bot.* 63:1725–33
- 165. Suhita D, Raghavendra AS, Kwak JM, Vavasseur A. 2004. Cytoplasmic alkalization precedes reactive oxygen species production during methyl jasmonate- and abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure. *Plant Physiol.* 134:1536–45
- 166. Takahashi F, Mizoguchi T, Yoshida R, Ichimura K, Shinozaki K. 2011. Calmodulin-dependent activation of MAP kinase for ROS homeostasis in *Arabidopsis. Mol. Cell* 41:649–60
- 167. Tanaka Y, Sano T, Tamaoki M, Nakajima N, Kondo N, Hasezawa S. 2006. Cytokinin and auxin inhibit abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure by enhancing ethylene production in *Arabidopsis. J. Exp. Bot.* 57:2259–66
- Tanaka Y, Sano T, Tamaoki M, Nakajima N, Kondo N, Hasezawa S. 2006. Ethylene inhibits abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* 138:2337–43
- Tang RH, Han S, Zheng H, Cook CW, Choi CS, et al. 2007. Coupling diurnal cytosolic Ca²⁺ oscillations to the CAS-IP3 pathway in *Arabidopsis. Science* 315:1423–26
- Thiel G, MacRobbie EA, Blatt MR. 1992. Membrane transport in stomatal guard cells: the importance of voltage control. *J. Membr. Biol.* 126:1–18
- 171. Uno Y, Rodriguez Milla MA, Maher E, Cushman JC. 2009. Identification of proteins that interact with catalytically active calcium-dependent protein kinases from *Arabidopsis*. *Mol. Genet. Genomics* 281:375–90
- 172. Vahisalu T, Kollist H, Wang YF, Nishimura N, Chan WY, et al. 2008. SLAC1 is required for plant guard cell S-type anion channel function in stomatal signalling. *Nature* 452:487–91
- Vlot AC, Dempsey DA, Klessig DF. 2009. Salicylic acid, a multifaceted hormone to combat disease. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 47:177–206
- 174. Voisin AS, Reidy B, Parent B, Rolland G, Redondo E, et al. 2006. Are ABA, ethylene or their interaction involved in the response of leaf growth to soil water deficit? An analysis using naturally occurring variation or genetic transformation of ABA production in maize. *Plant Cell Environ.* 29:1829–40
- 175. Waadt R, Hitomi K, Nishimura N, Hitomi C, Adams SR, et al. 2014. FRET-based reporters for the direct visualization of abscisic acid concentration changes and distribution in Arabidopsis. *eLife* 3:e01739
- 176. Wang WH, Chen J, Liu TW, Chen J, Han AD, et al. 2014. Regulation of the calcium-sensing receptor in both stomatal movement and photosynthetic electron transport is crucial for water use efficiency and drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis. J. Exp. Bot.* 65:223–34
- 177. Wang WH, Yi XQ, Han AD, Liu TW, Chen J, et al. 2012. Calcium-sensing receptor regulates stomatal closure through hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide in response to extracellular calcium in *Arabidopsis*. *J. Exp. Bot.* 63:177–90
- 178. Watkins JM, Hechler PJ, Muday GK. 2014. Ethylene-induced flavonol accumulation in guard cells suppresses reactive oxygen species and moderates stomatal aperture. *Plant Physiol.* 164:1707–17
- 179. Weinl S, Held K, Schlücking K, Steinhorst L, Kuhlgert S, et al. 2008. A plastid protein crucial for Ca²⁺-regulated stomatal responses. *New Phytol.* 179:675–86
- 180. Willekens H, Chamnongpol S, Davey M, Schraudner M, Langebartels C, et al. 1997. Catalase is a sink for H₂O₂ and is indispensable for stress defence in C₃ plants. *EMBO J*. 16:4806–16
- 181. Wong HL, Pinontoan R, Hayashi K, Tabata R, Yaeno T, et al. 2007. Regulation of rice NADPH oxidase by binding of Rac GTPase to its N-terminal extension. *Plant Cell* 19:4022–34
- 182. Wu Y, Zhou JM. 2013. Receptor-like kinases in plant innate immunity. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 55:1271-86
- 183. Ye W, Muroyama D, Munemasa S, Nakamura Y, Mori IC, Murata Y. 2013. Calcium-dependent protein kinase, CPK6, positively functions in induction by YEL of stomatal closure and inhibition by YEL of light-induced stomatal opening in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* 163:591–99
- Zagorchev L, Seal, CF, Kranner I, Odjakova M. 2013. A central role for thiols in plant tolerance to abiotic stress. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14:7405–32
- 185. Zeng W, Brutus A, Kremer JM, Withers JC, Gao X, et al. 2011. A genetic screen reveals Arabidopsis stomatal and/or apoplastic defenses against *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* DC3000. *PLOS Pathog*. 7:e1002291
- Zhang X, Dong FC, Gao JF, Song CP. 2001. Hydrogen peroxide induced changes in intracellular pH of guard cells precede stomatal closure. *Cell Res.* 11:37–43

- 187. Zhang Y, Zhu H, Zhang Q, Li M, Yan M, et al. 2009. Phospholipase Dα1 and phosphatidic acid regulate NADPH oxidase activity and production of reactive oxygen species in ABA-mediated stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 21:2357–77
- 188. Zhao R, Sun HL, Mei C, Wang XJ, Yan L, et al. 2011. The Arabidopsis Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinase CPK12 negatively regulates abscisic acid signaling in seed germination and post-germination growth. *New Phytol.* 192:61–73
- Zhao Z, Zhang W, Stanley BA, Assmann SM. 2008. Functional proteomics of *Arabidopsis thaliana* guard cells uncovers new stomatal signaling pathways. *Plant Cell* 20:3210–26
- Zhong HH, McClung CR. 1996. The circadian clock gates expression of two Arabidopsis catalase genes to distinct and opposite circadian phases. Mol. Gen. Genet. 251:196–203
- 191. Zhu SY, Yu XC, Wang XJ, Zhao R, Li Y, et al. 2007. Two calcium-dependent protein kinases, CPK4 and CPK11, regulate abscisic acid signal transduction in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 19:3019–36
- 192. Zipfel C. 2014. Plant pattern-recognition receptors. Trends Immunol. 35:345-51
- 193. Zipfel C, Kunze G, Chinchilla D, Caniard A, Jones JD, et al. 2006. Perception of the bacterial PAMP EF-Tu by the receptor EFR restricts *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation. *Cell* 125:749–60
- 194. Zou JJ, Wei FJ, Wang C, Wu JJ, Ratnasekera D, et al. 2010. Arabidopsis calcium-dependent protein kinase CPK10 functions in abscisic acid- and Ca²⁺-mediated stomatal regulation in response to drought stress. *Plant Physiol.* 154:1232–43